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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

MARSHALL DIVISION
§
TYCHE LICENSING LLC, §  Case No.
§
Plaintiff, § JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
§
V. N
§
INFINEON TECHNOLOGIES AG, §
§
Defendant. §
§

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT

Plaintiff Tyche Licensing LLC (“Tyche” or “Plaintiff’) for its Complaint against
Defendant Infineon Technologies AG (“Infineon” or “Defendant”), alleges as follows:

THE PARTIES

1. Tyche is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the
State of Texas, with its principal place of business located at 100 West Houston Street, Marshall,
Texas 75670.

2. Upon information and belief, Infineon is a corporation formed under the laws of
the Federal Republic of Germany, with a principal place of business at Am Campeon 1-15, 85579,
Neubiberg, Germany.

JURISDICTION

3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant. Defendant conducts business
and has committed acts of patent infringement in this Judicial District, the State of Texas, and

elsewhere in the United States.
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4. Defendant is subject to this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to due process and/or the
Texas Long Arm Statute due at least to its substantial business in this State and District, including
(a) at least part of its past infringing activities, (b) regularly doing or soliciting business in Texas,
and/or (c) engaging in persistent conduct and/or deriving substantial revenue from goods and
services provided to customers in Texas. Upon information and belief, Defendant, directly or
indirectly, participates in the stream of commerce that results and resulted in products, including
the accused products, being made, used, offered for sale, and/or sold in the State of Texas and/or
imported into the United States to the State of Texas.

5. Venue is proper in this Judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because,
among other things, Defendant is not a resident in the United States, and thus may be sued in any
judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c)(3).

PATENTS-IN-SUIT

6. On May 31, 2005, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally
issued U.S. Patent No. 6,900,087 (the “’087 Patent”) entitled “Symmetric Inducting Device for an
Integrated Circuit Having a Ground Shield.” A true and correct copy of the *087 Patent is available
at https://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?PageNum=0&docid=06900087.

7. On August 1, 2006, the United States Patent and Trademark Office duly and legally
issued U.S. Patent No. 7,084,481 (the “’481 Patent”) entitled “Symmetric Inducting Device for an
Integrated Circuit Having a Ground Shield.” A true and correct copy of the 481 Patent is available
at https://pdfpiw.uspto.gov/.piw?PageNum=0&docid=7084481.

8. Tyche is the sole and exclusive owner of all right, title, and interest in the’087
Patent and the ’481 Patent (collectively, the “Patents-in-Suit”’), and holds the exclusive right to

take all actions necessary to enforce its rights to the Patents-in-Suit, including the filing of this
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patent infringement lawsuit. Tyche also has the right to recover all damages for past, present, and
future infringement of the Patents-in-Suit and to seek injunctive relief as appropriate under the
law.

0. Tyche has at all times complied with the marking provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 287
with respect to the Patents-in-Suit.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

10. The Patents-in-Suit generally cover systems and methods related to inducting
devices in integrated circuits.

11. The technology described in the *087 Patent was developed by Rex Everett Lowther
and William R. Young of Globespan Virata Inc. By way of example, this technology is
implemented today in integrated circuits used in wireless communication devices.

12. The technology described in the *481 Patent was developed by Rex Everett Lowther
and William R. Young of Conexant Systems, Inc. By way of example, this technology is
implemented today in integrated circuits used in wireless communication devices.

13. Infineon has infringed and is continuing to infringe one or more of the Patents-in-
Suit by making, using, selling, offering to sell, and/or importing, and by actively inducing others
to make, use, sell, offer to sell, and/or import devices containing integrated circuits with symmetric
inductors (the “Accused Products™). Such products include, but are not limited to, BGAU1A10,
BGAV1A10, BGASHIBN6, BGASL1BN6, BGASM1BN6, BGA7HIBN6, BGA7HING,
BGA7LIN6, BGA7L1BN6, BGA7MIN6, BGAS8GIBN6, BGASUIBN6, BGASVI1BNG,
BGA9CIMN9, BGA9HIMNO9, BGA9VIMNY, BGA123L4, BGA123N6, BGA125N6, BGA420,
BGA427, BGA524N6, BGA614, BGA616, BGA715N7, BGA725L6, BGA729N6, BGA824N6,

BGAR855N6, BGB707L7ESD, BGB741L7ESD, BGT24AR2, BGT24AR4, BGT24AT2,



Case 2:22-cv-00147 Document 1 Filed 05/13/22 Page 4 of 14 PagelD #: 4

BGT24ATRI11, BGT24ATR12, BGT24MTRI11, BGT24MTR12, BGT24LTR22,
BGT24LTR11IN16, BGT24MR2, BGT60ATR24C, BGT60LTRI1AIP, BGT60TRI13C,
BGMI15LA12, BGM12LBA9, BGM13HBAY9, BGM14HBA12, BGM13HBA12, BGM17LBA1S5,
CYW20706, CYW20719, CYW20721, CYW20735, CYW20736, CYW20737, CYW20819,
CYW20835, CYW20820, CYW43012, CYW43364, CYW43438, CYW43439, CYW4343W,
CYW43455, CYW4354, CYW4356, CYW4373, CYW43903, CYW43907, CYW54591,
CYW54907, CYWS5557x, SP370, SP400, TDAS150TDAS225, TDAS235, TDAS240,
TDA7100H, TDA7110F, TDA7116F, TDKS5100F, TDK5101F, TDKS5110F, TDKS5111F, and any
variants and other Infineon processors within the same product families as those named herein.

COUNT1
(Infringement of the ’087 Patent)

14.  Paragraphs 1 through 13 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

15. Tyche has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make, use, offer for
sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the 087 Patent.

16.  Defendant has and continues to directly infringe the 087 Patent, either literally or
under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making,
using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products made
using the patented methods including, but not limited to, products that satisfy each and every
limitation of one or more claims of the 087 Patent. Upon information and belief, such products
include at least Infineon processors containing a symmetric inductor with current routers in an
integrated circuit.

17.  For example, Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 17 of
the *087 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States

products that include a symmetric inducting device for an integrated circuit. For example, the
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Accused Products, including the BGT24ATR12 processor, include a symmetric inducting device
for an integrated circuit. The symmetric inducting device is produced by performing a method of
forming a symmetric inducting device for an integrated circuit. The method includes patterning
one or more pairs of current path regions in a main metal layer that overlays a working surface of
a substrate of an integrated circuit, wherein each pair of current path regions are patterned to be
generally symmetric about a plane of symmetry that is perpendicular to the working surface of the

substrate.
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Infineon BGT24ATR12 Processor Die Marking.

reomftcsub

Infineon BGT24ATR12 Processor Die with Integrated Circuits.
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‘ Current Path Pair ‘ | Plane of Symmetry
Working Surface of
Substrate
Main Metal Layer ‘ ‘ Current Path Pair ‘
Infineon BGT24ATR12 Processor Inductor.
18.  In integrated circuits, metal current paths are patterned in a working surface of a

substrate. In order to save valuable space, and to design circuits in which components do not
interfere with each other, differential circuits can be used. Differential circuits comprise a first
circuit that produces desired voltages and currents, and a second identical circuit that produces
opposite voltages and currents. This design cancels out undesirable natural parasitic effects in the
circuit. Symmetric inducting devices are useful in differential circuits. The pairs of current paths
are patterned to be symmetric about the plane of symmetry, which is perpendicular to the working

surface.
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19.  Additionally, the aforementioned method of forming a symmetric inducting device
for an integrated circuit includes forming current routers having an overpass and an underpass to
selectively couple one current path region in a pair of current path regions to another current path
region in another pair of current path regions, wherein a width of the overpass is formed narrower

than the width of the underpass to approximate resistances through the overpass and the underpass.

Current Router with

Current Path Pair T

Current Path Pair

Infineon BGT24ATR 12 Processor Inductor.
20.  In order to form a differential circuit with opposing voltages and currents, an
overpass region and an underpass region are formed to selectively couple one current path region

in a pair of current path regions to another current path region in another pair of current path
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regions. This has the effect of minimizing undesirable parasitic effects. The overpass metal layer
has less sheet resistance than the underpass metal layer. For the inductor to function as desired,
and for current to flow through all current path regions, the overpass and underpass have
approximately equal resistance. Therefore, in order to approximate resistances through the
overpass and underpass, and to compensate for less sheet resistance in the overpass layer, the
overpass is formed narrower than the underpass.

21. Defendant has and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the *087
Patent, including claim 17, by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including third-party
semiconductor foundries, other types of third-party manufacturers, customers, and/or end-users to
directly infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to
sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products.

22. Defendant, with knowledge that these products, and/or the manufacture thereof,
infringe the 087 Patent at least as of the date of this Complaint, knowingly and intentionally
induced, and continues to knowingly and intentionally induce direct infringement of the ’087
Patent by contracting for the third-party manufacture of, and/or providing the Accused Products
to direct infringers.

23. Defendant has induced infringement by others, including third-party semiconductor
foundries, other types of third-party manufacturers, customers, and/or end-users, with the intent to
cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high probability
that others infringe the 087 Patent, but while remaining willfully blind to the infringement.

24. Defendant has and continues to infringe one or more claims of the 087 Patent by
importing into the United States or offering to sell, selling, or using within the United States a

product which is made by a process patented in the United States.
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25. Tyche has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and indirect
infringement of the 087 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial.

COUNT 1I
(Infringement of the ’481 Patent)

26.  Paragraphs 1 through 13 are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

27. Tyche has not licensed or otherwise authorized Defendant to make, use, offer for
sale, sell, or import any products that embody the inventions of the *481 Patent.

28.  Defendant has and continues to directly infringe the 481 Patent, either literally or
under the doctrine of equivalents, without authority and in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271, by making,
using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products
including, but not limited to, products that satisfy each and every limitation of one or more claims
of the ’481 Patent. Upon information and belief, such products include at least Infineon processors
containing a symmetric inductor with current routers in an integrated circuit.

29.  For example, Defendant has and continues to directly infringe at least claim 1 of
the *481 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, selling, and/or importing into the United States
products that include a current router for an inducting device in an integrated circuit. For example,
the Accused Products, including the BGT24ATR12 processor, include a symmetric inducting
device for an integrated circuit, including a current router comprising one or more overpasses to
electrically connect select current path regions of the inducting device, the one or more overpasses
are made from a conductive layer having a first sheet resistance, each overpass having a first width.

30.  Additionally, the Accused Products, including the BGT24ATR12 processor,
include a symmetric inducting device for an integrated circuit, including a current router
comprising one or more underpasses to electrically connect different select current path regions of

the inducting device, the one or more underpasses are made from a conducting layer having a

10
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second different sheet resistance, each underpass having a second different width, wherein the first
width of each overpass and the second different width of an associated underpass are adjusted to
make the resistance through the overpass approximately equal to the resistance through the

associated underpass.

Current Router with
Overpass and Underpass

Current Path Pair

Current Path Pair

Infineon BGT24ATR12 Processor Inductor

31.  In order to form a differential circuit with opposing voltages and currents, an
overpass region and an underpass region are formed to selectively couple one current path region
in a pair of current path regions to another current path region in another pair of current path

regions. This has the effect of minimizing undesirable parasitic effects. The overpass metal layer

11
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has a different sheet resistance than the underpass metal layer. For the inductor to function as
desired, and for current to flow through all current path regions, the overpass and underpass have
approximately equal resistance. Therefore, in order to approximate resistances through the
overpass and underpass, and to compensate for the different sheet resistance in the overpass layer,
the overpass is formed to have a different width than the underpass.

32. Defendant has and continues to indirectly infringe one or more claims of the *481
Patent by knowingly and intentionally inducing others, including third-party semiconductor
foundries, other types of third-party manufacturers, customers, and/or end-users, to directly
infringe, either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents, by making, using, offering to sell,
selling, and/or importing into the United States the Accused Products.

33, Defendant, with knowledge that these products, or the use or manufacture thereof,
infringe the ’481 Patent at least as of the date of this Complaint, knowingly and intentionally
induced, and continues to knowingly and intentionally induce direct infringement of the ’481
Patent by contracting for the third-party manufacture of and/or providing these products to others,
including third-party semiconductor foundries, other types of third-party manufacturers,
customers, and/or end-users for use in an infringing manner.

34, Defendant has induced infringement by others, including third-party semiconductor
foundries, other types of third-party manufacturers, customers, and/or end-users, with the intent to
cause infringing acts by others or, in the alternative, with the belief that there was a high probability
that others would infringe the 481 Patent, but while remaining willfully blind to the infringement.

35. Tyche has suffered damages as a result of Defendant’s direct and indirect

infringement of the *481 Patent in an amount to be proved at trial.

12
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury for all issues so triable.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Tyche prays for relief against Defendant as follows:

a. Entry of judgment declaring that Defendant has directly and/or indirectly infringed
one or more claims of each of the Patents-in-Suit;

b. An order awarding damages sufficient to compensate Tyche for Defendant’s
infringement of the Patents-in-Suit, but in no event less than a reasonable royalty, together with
interest and costs;

c. Entry of judgment declaring that this case is exceptional and awarding Tyche its
costs and reasonable attorney fees under 35 U.S.C. § 285; and

d. Such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated: May 13, 2022 Respectfully submitted,

/s/ _Alfred R. Fabricant

Alfred R. Fabricant

NY Bar No. 2219392

Email: ffabricant@fabricantllp.com
Peter Lambrianakos

NY Bar No. 2894392

Email: plambrianakos@fabricantllp.com
Vincent J. Rubino, 111

NY Bar No. 4557435

Email: vrubino@fabricantllp.com
FABRICANT LLP

411 Theodore Fremd Avenue, Suite 206 South
Rye, New York 10580

Telephone: (212) 257-5797

Facsimile: (212) 257-5796
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Justin Kurt Truelove

Texas State Bar No. 24013653
Email: kurt@truelovelawfirm.com
TRUELOVE LAW FIRM, PLLC
100 West Houston Street

Marshall, Texas 75670

Telephone: (903) 938-8321
Facsimile: (903) 215-8510

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF
TYCHE LICENSING LLC
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